

RIWAYAT KORESPONDENSI

← → ↻ jurnal.lusk.ac.id/JP/issue/view/2084

WhatsApp Web Kotak Masuk (27) ... Selamat Datang THE 3rd ICoSMEE Sci-Hub: removing... European Journal o... Login Journal of Educatio... Google Terjemahan

JPSI Jurnal Pendidikan Sains Indonesia (Indonesian Journal of Science Education)

Program Studi Pendidikan IPA
Program Pascasarjana Universitas Syiah Kuala

p-ISSN: 2338-4379
e-ISSN: 2615-840X

HOME ABOUT USER HOME CATEGORIES SEARCH CURRENT ARCHIVES ANNOUNCEMENTS DOWNLOAD

CERTIFICATE

SERTIFIKAT

REVIEWER

FOCUS AND SCOPE

ONLINE SUBMISSION

AUTHOR GUIDELINES

PUBLICATION ETHICS

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Jurnal Pendidikan Sains Indonesia (Indonesian Journal of Science Education)

Collaborative Group Investigation and Self Efficacy on Pre-Service Science Teachers' Critical Thinking Skills Sukardi Abbas*, Wirda Az Umangap, Astuti Muh Amin doi> 10.24815/jpsi.v11i1.26614	PDF 1-11
Ethnochemistry: Exploring the Potential of Sasak and Javanese Local Wisdom as a Source of Chemistry Learning to Improve the Learning Outcomes of Pre-Service Teachers Dwi Wahyudlati*, Devi Qurniati doi> 10.24815/jpsi.v11i1.26790	PDF 12-24
Implementasi Pendekatan Science, Technology, Engineering, and Mathematics untuk Meningkatkan Kemampuan Literasi Sains dan Kreativitas Siswa Widya Astuti*, Sulastri Sulastri, Muhammad Syukri, Abdul Halim doi> 10.24815/jpsi.v11i1.26646	PDF 25-39
Peningkatan Kemampuan Mahasiswa Pendidikan Guru Dalam Menyusun Perangkat	PDF

COLLABORATED WITH PPII

MoU PPII-JPSI

INDEXING

Sinta

Google

Crossref

← → ↻ jurnal.lusk.ac.id/JP/author/submissionReview/26614

WhatsApp Web Kotak Masuk (27) ... Selamat Datang THE 3rd ICoSMEE Sci-Hub: removing... European Journal o... Login Journal of Educatio... Google Terjemahan

JPSI Jurnal Pendidikan Sains Indonesia (Indonesian Journal of Science Education)

Program Studi Pendidikan IPA
Program Pascasarjana Universitas Syiah Kuala

p-ISSN: 2338-4379
e-ISSN: 2615-840X

HOME ABOUT USER HOME CATEGORIES SEARCH CURRENT ARCHIVES ANNOUNCEMENTS DOWNLOAD

CERTIFICATE

SERTIFIKAT

REVIEWER

FOCUS AND SCOPE

ONLINE SUBMISSION

AUTHOR GUIDELINES

PUBLICATION ETHICS

SUMMARY REVIEW EDITING

SUBMISSION

Authors Sukardi Abbas*, Wirda Az Umangap, Astuti Muh Amin

Title Collaborative Group Investigation and Self Efficacy on Pre-Service Science Teachers' Critical Thinking Skills

Section Jurnal Pendidikan Sains Indonesia (Indonesian Journal of Science Education)

Editor Dadan Rosana

PEER REVIEW

Round 1

Review Version	26614-86605-1-RV.DOCX 2022-06-27
Initiated	2022-09-02
Last modified	2022-10-05
Uploaded file	Reviewer B 26614-92831-1-RV.DOCX 2022-10-05

EDITOR DECISION

Decision	Accept Submission 2022-11-03
Notify Editor	<input type="checkbox"/> Editor/Author Email Record 2022-11-20
Editor Version	26614-87215-1-ED.DOCX 2022-07-05

COLLABORATED WITH PPII

MoU PPII-JPSI

INDEXING

Sinta

Google

Crossref

← → ↻ jurnal.usk.ac.id/JPSI/author/submissionReview/26614

WhatsApp Web Kotak Masuk (27) ... Selamat Datang THE 3rd ICoSMEE Sci-Hub: removing... European Journal o... Login Journal of Educatio... Google Terjemahan

ONLINE SUBMISSION

AUTHOR GUIDELINES

PUBLICATION ETHICS

OPEN ACCESS POLICY

PEER REVIEW PROCESS

AUTHOR FEES

CONTACT

NOTIFICATIONS

- View (2 new)
- Manage

TOOLS

STAT COUNTER

Uploaded file Reviewer B 26614-92831-1-RV.DOCX 2022-10-05

EDITOR DECISION

Decision Accept Submission 2022-11-03

Notify Editor Editor/Author Email Record 2022-11-20

Editor Version

26614-87215-1-ED.DOCX	2022-07-05	
26614-87215-2-ED.DOCX	2022-09-02	
26614-87215-3-ED.DOCX	2022-10-04	
26614-87215-4-ED.DOCX	2022-10-26	
26614-87215-5-ED.DOCX	2022-11-03	
26614-87215-6-ED.DOC	2022-11-20	

Author Version

26614-87193-1-ED.DOCX	2022-07-05	DELETE
26614-87193-2-ED.DOCX	2022-07-08	DELETE
26614-87193-3-ED.DOCX	2022-10-08	DELETE
26614-87193-4-ED.DOCX	2022-10-30	DELETE
26614-87193-5-ED.DOCX	2022-10-30	DELETE

Upload Author Version No file chosen

Jurnal Pendidikan Sains Indonesia (Indonesian Journal of Science Education)
 ISSN 2338-4370 (print) | 2615-840X (online)
 Organized by Universitas Syiah Kuala
 Published by Program Studi Magister Pendidikan IPA Program Pascasarjana Universitas Syiah Kuala
 Website : http://jurnal.unsyiah.ac.id/jpsi
 Email : jpsi@unsyiah.ac.id

This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-ShareAlike 4.0 International License.

TEMPLATE

VISITOR

Visitors

ID 251,814	ES 46	PL 10
US 7,744	SA 44	JM 10
PH 1,971	IT 43	AR 10
MY 1,680	RO 43	NZ 9
TR 688	CO 37	TN 9
IN 415	AE 36	CR 8
SG 334	TL 34	HR 8
TU 317	VE 33	RU 8

[See more](#)

← → ↻ jurnal.usk.ac.id/JPSI/author/submissionEditing/26614

WhatsApp Web Kotak Masuk (27) ... Selamat Datang THE 3rd ICoSMEE Sci-Hub: removing... European Journal o... Login Journal of Educatio... Google Terjemahan

HOME

ABOUT

USER HOME

CATEGORIES

SEARCH

CURRENT

ARCHIVES

ANNOUNCEMENTS

DOWNLOAD

CERTIFICATE

REVIEWER

FOCUS AND SCOPE

ONLINE SUBMISSION

AUTHOR GUIDELINES

PUBLICATION ETHICS

OPEN ACCESS POLICY

PEER REVIEW PROCESS

AUTHOR FEES

Program Studi Pendidikan IPA
Program Pascasarjana Universitas Syiah Kuala

SUMMARY REVIEW EDITING

SUBMISSION

Authors Sukardi Abbas*, Wirda Az Umangap, Astuti Muh Amin

Title Collaborative Group Investigation and Self Efficacy on Pre-Service Science Teachers' Critical Thinking Skills

Section Jurnal Pendidikan Sains Indonesia (Indonesian Journal of Science Education)

Editor Dadan Rosana

COPYEDITING

REVIEW METADATA	REQUEST	UNDERWAY	COMPLETE
1. Initial Copyedit File: None	--	--	2022-11-09
2. Author Copyedit File: 26614-95572-1-CE.DOC 2022-11-20 <input type="button" value="Choose File"/> No file chosen <input type="button" value="Upload"/>	2022-11-09	2022-11-10	
3. Final Copyedit File: None	--	--	2022-11-20

Copyedit Comments No Comments

LAYOUT

Galley Format	FILE
1. PDF VIEW PROOF	26614-95574-1-PB.PDF 2022-11-20

COLLABORATED WITH PPII

MOU PPII-JPSI

INDEXING

PUBLICATION ETHICS

OPEN ACCESS POLICY

PEER REVIEW PROCESS


AUTHOR FEES


CONTACT

NOTIFICATIONS

- View (2 new)
- Manage

TOOLS





STAT COUNTER

88738377

[View My Stats](#)

OPEN JOURNAL SYSTEMS

USER

Copyedit Comments [No Comments](#)

LAYOUT

Galley Format FILE

1. PDF VIEW PROOF 26614-95574-1-PB.PDF 2022-11-20 0

Supplementary Files FILE

1. Bukti Pembayaran (Review) 26614-88391-1-SP.JPEG 2022-07-23

2. Surat Pernyataan 26614-88392-1-SP.PDF 2022-07-23

Layout Comments [No Comments](#)

PROOFREADING

REVIEW METADATA

	REQUEST	UNDERWAY	COMPLETE
1. Author	2022-11-09	2022-11-10	
2. Proofreader	2022-11-09	—	2022-11-20
3. Layout Editor	2022-11-09	—	2022-11-20

Proofreading Corrections [No Comments](#) [PROOFING INSTRUCTIONS](#)

Jurnal Pendidikan Sains Indonesia (Indonesian Journal of Science Education)
ISSN 2338-4379 (print) | 2615-840X (online)
Organized by Universitas Syiah Kuala
Published by Program Studi Magister Pendidikan IPA Program Pascasarjana Universitas Syiah Kuala
Website : <http://jurnal.unsyiah.ac.id/jpsi>
Email : jpsi@unsyiah.ac.id



This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-ShareAlike 4.0 International License.



TEMPLATE



VISITOR

Visitors [See more](#)

ID 251,814	ES 46	PL 10
US 7,744	SA 44	JM 10
PH 1,971	IT 43	AR 10
MY 1,680	RO 43	NZ 9
TR 688	CO 37	TN 9
IN 415	AE 36	CR 8
SG 334	IL 34	HR 8
TH 317	KE 32	OM 8
CA 277	BD 32	KW 8
CN 252	GH 31	BH 7
GB 248	PT 27	MO 7
BR 214	ET 26	BE 7
JP 199	IQ 23	RU 6
VN 155	JO 23	TZ 6



Collaborative Group Investigation and Self Efficacy on Pre-Service Science Teachers' Critical Thinking Skills

DOI: 10.24815/jpsi.vxix.xxxxx

Article History: Received: xxxxxxxxxxxx Revised: xxxxxxxxxxxx
Accepted: xxxxxxxxxxxx Published: xxxxxxxxxxxx

Abstract. This study sought to determine the effect of collaborative group investigation (CGI) learning and self-efficacy on the critical thinking skills of students enrolled in the Environment course. With a non-equivalent control group design and a 2 x 2 ANOVA inferential statistical test, a quasi-experimental design was implemented. The subjects of this study were forty science teacher candidates who took the Environmental course at a university in Indonesia. A self-efficacy questionnaire and a test of critical thinking skills constituted the research instruments. The results indicated that the collaborative group investigation group received an average score of 62.2, whereas the direct learning group received an average score of 48.8, with an $F_{\text{calculated}}$ of 87.626 and a significance value of 0.000. The data analysis revealed substantial differences between the collaborative group inquiry group and the direct learning group in terms of critical thinking skills. Students with high self-efficacy and those with low self-efficacy demonstrated significantly different self-efficacy, as the mean test score of students with high self-efficacy (62.3) was higher than that of students with low self-efficacy (48.3), with an $F_{\text{calculated}}$ value of 90,184 and a significance value of 0.000. The interplay between learning strategies and self-efficacy affects the critical thinking skills of pupils because collaborative learning practices can engage students actively through teamwork, idea exchange, decision making, and shared responsibilities.

Keywords: Collaborative Group Investigation (CGI), Critical Thinking Skills, Self-Efficacy.

Introduction

Education is a coordinated endeavor aimed at guiding students in a better direction. Therefore, the best approach for students to accomplish this objective is to adhere to the learning principles of the transfer of values and the transfer of knowledge or skills. As a major determinant, the role and objectives of education remain connected to these two factors. The goals of science education are to link scientific endeavors with life's values and to introduce students to scientific activities through observation and exploration of natural phenomena and the search for solutions to life's problems. Through science education, students acquire scientific knowledge and assume responsibility for addressing issues in life. The role of science education must extend beyond the comprehension of concepts and their applications.

The objective and role of science education have not been adequately implemented. Educators appear to be ingrained in the practice of relying solely on mastery of theory and memorization for textual learning processes. This affects the growth of students' learning capabilities. Past research has demonstrated that many students struggle to comprehend certain scientific concepts and are unfamiliar with experimental activities that enhance scientific skills (Bostan Sarioglan et al., 2021; Marlina, 2020). Students' views and ideas about their difficulties should be respected and teaching-learning

Comment [H1]: Abstraknya belum lengkap! Harus dimulai dengan minimal sebuah kalimat yang membahas permasalahannya secara singkat!

Comment [H2]: Jangan menarasikan terlalu umum dan tak ilmiah juga diawal dengan tulisan definisi atau pengertiannya! Mulailah saja menjelaskan permasalahannya yang didukung data dan sejumlah referensi primer yang mutakhir!

Comment [H3]: Tak sesuai penulisan referensinya dengan ketentuan template jurnal JPSI

approaches and strategies should be adapted to the learning needs and learning styles of students (Falloon, 2019; Kervinen et al., 2020; Prabha, 2020).

We hypothesize that this issue can reduce students' self-efficacy, which in turn impacts their attitudes and critical thinking skills. Therefore, it is considered necessary to apply learning strategies that involve students together in promoting critical thinking attitudes and skills. To address this issue, a collaborative group-based investigational strategy was created to be more effective than conventional teaching methods. Previous studies have demonstrated the efficacy of integrating diverse instructional modalities to enhance students' critical thinking, conceptual comprehension, and interest in science (Hammond et al., 2020; Ku et al., 2014; Raes et al., 2016; Sun et al., 2017). To our knowledge, the strengthening of critical thinking skills by integrating collaborative and investigative teaching approaches has rarely been studied.

Collaborative learning provides students with excellent opportunity to grow during the learning process. Self-development is conducted for personal learning needs and the development of individual skills in constructing knowledge. Moreover, in the context of socio-constructivist theory, collaborative learning might encourage students to acquire in-depth information through group interactions during the execution of a social activity (Ajjawi & Boud, 2015; Deslauriers et al., 2019; Päivi Häkkinen et al., 2017). Intergroup interactions during the performance of experiments can encourage students to acquire information and skills through collaboration and to use experimental results to build knowledge (Amin, 2020; Liu et al., 2020; Zambrano et al., 2019). Preparation of tasks in groups can increase awareness of the importance of cooperation and collaboration to achieve success (Heinimäki et al., 2021; Mende et al., 2021); (Magnanini et al., 2021).

The distinctive characteristics of collaborative group investigation are investigation, interaction, interpretation, and intrinsic motivation. Group investigations can encourage students to address challenges together (Sharan et al., 2015). Group work can also encourage pupils to participate actively in the learning process. Students can benefit from group investigations. Individually, they can gain confidence in expressing their opinions, ideas, and questions, and then exchange them with other pupils. Through group investigation, students inspire one another to develop meaningful and enjoyable learning, which ultimately impacts their critical thinking skills. Consequently, the purpose of this study was to determine the influence of collaborative learning practices on the critical thinking skills of students with varying levels of self-efficacy and whether or not the two variables interact.

Methods

The current study employed a quasi-experimental method because variables assumed to affect treatment are extremely difficult to regulate. In this study, the variables included two independent variables (collaborative group investigation and direct learning), a moderator variable (self-efficacy), and a dependent variable (critical thinking skills). The design employed is a 2 x 2 factorial non-equivalent control group design based on these variables. Table 1 depicts the research design.

Table 1. 2 x 2 Factorial Design

Moderator Variable	Independent Variables
--------------------	-----------------------

Comment [H4]: Tak sesuai penulisan referensinya dengan ketentuan template jurnal JPSI!

Comment [H5]: Uraianya belum lengkap, karena tidak dijelaskan secara sistematis tentang teknik sampling, prosedur penelitiannya, dan teknik analisis datanya!

		Colaborative Group Investigation (X1)	Direct Learning (X2)
Self-efficacy (Y)	high (Y1)	X1Y1	X2Y1
	low (Y2)	X1Y2	X2Y2

The population in this study were all sixth semester biology students who program environmental courses. Their total number is 50 people. Cluster sampling technique was used for sampling. As a result, 40 people were sampled in this study. They were divided into two groups, namely the experimental group and the control group. Each group consists of 20 people so that the total number is 40 people. Both groups are assumed to have the same ability based on the results of the identification of learning outcomes.

The study was done across eight meetings in the odd semester and included a pre-test, treatment sessions, and a post-test. The research instruments were comprised of two instruments: one to assess self-efficacy and one to assess critical thinking skills. The self-efficacy instrument was designed as a questionnaire with a Likert scale (0–5). The dependent variable instrument, which was used to assess students’ critical thinking skills, is a test.

The pre-test activity was conducted during the first week, with students completing assesment for self-efficacy and critical thinking skills. Following that, treatment was administered to both the experimental and control groups. The data obtained in the study were arranged and analyzed descriptively to determine the mean, standard deviation, normality and homogeneity. Furthermore, it is analyzed using inferential statistics to test the hypotheses that have been formulated if the assumption tests such as normality and homogeneity are met. All testing techniques use the help of SPSS software.

Results and Discussion

The Results of Descriptive Analysis on Students’ Critical Thinking Skills

Data on critical thinking skills were obtained from the pre-test and post-test results. The datasets were then scoured for differences and used in the analysis. Descriptive statistics were used to aid in the presentation and description of data presented for further analysis, particularly hypothesis testing. Inference statistics were used to help with hypothesis testing.

The Critical Thinking Skills of Students in the Collaborative and Direct Learning Classes

The descriptive analysis of students’ critical thinking skills yielded the mean, standard deviation, and number of students as outputs. The collaborative group, which consisted of 20 students or participants, gained a mean (M) of 62.2 and a standard deviation (SD) of 7.29. In contrast, the direct learning group, comprised of 20 individuals, recorded a mean (M) of 48.4 and a standard deviation (SD) of 9.86. The results of a descriptive statistical examination of the critical thinking skills of students are presented in Table 2.

Table 2. Descriptive Analysis of Students’ Critical Thinking Skills (M ± SD)

Treatment	Self Efficacy	Total
-----------	---------------	-------

Comment [H6]: Sajikan dulu datanya, baru dibahas langsung secara mendalam didukung sitasinya kepada artikel jurnal yang relevan!

Comment [H7]: Kurang ilmiah tulisannya, jika istilahnya diulang-ulang penulisan nama dan simbolnya!

	High Self Efficacy	Low Self Efficacy	
Collaborative	67.5 ± 5.60	56.9 ± 4.28	62.2 ± 7.29
Direct	57.1 ± 3.48	39.7 ± 5.01	48.4 ± 9.86
Total	62.3 ± 7.01	48.3 ± 9.92	55.3 ± 11.1

Sumber: Data Penelitian Diolah (2019)

Comment [H8]: Jika data ini merupakan hasil penelitian sendiri tak perlu ditulis sumbernya!

The Critical Thinking Skills of Students with High and Low Self-Efficacy

The descriptive analysis of students' critical thinking skills based on their self-efficacy yielded the mean, standard deviation, and number of students as outputs. Twenty (N) students with high self-efficacy reported a mean (M) of 62.3 and a standard deviation (SD) of 7.01. Meanwhile, twenty students with low self-efficacy obtained a mean (M) of 48.3 and a standard deviation (SD) of 9.92. These results indicate that the mean score for critical thinking skills in the group with high self-efficacy is greater than the mean score for critical thinking skills in the group with low self-efficacy. Table 1 provides an overview of the outcomes of data interpretation.

Comment [H9]: Idem!

The Results of the Assumption Tests

Normality Testing

The Saphiro Wilk test with a significance level of 0.05 was used to examine the normality of the data on critical thinking skills and self-efficacy. This test was predicated on the null hypothesis (Ho) derived from the population's normal distribution. If the significance value (sig) is less than or equal to 0.05, the data distribution is deemed abnormal. Alternatively, if the significance value (sig.) exceeds 0.05, then the data distribution is deemed normal.

Table 3 summarizes the results of the normality assumption test on critical thinking skills in terms of the learning strategies employed and the students' self-efficacy levels.

Table 3. The Results of the Saphiro Wilk Normality Test

Variable	Z	Sig.	Remarks
Critical Thinking Skills			
Collaborative Learning	0.939	0.232	Normal
Direct Learning	0.907	0.055	Normal
High Self Efficacy	0.944	0.279	Normal
Low Self Efficacy	0.956	0.462	Normal

The results of the Sapiro Wilk test conducted with SPSS to determine the normality of data on critical thinking skills and self-efficacy indicated that the significance value of critical thinking skills for groups of students taught using the collaborative learning strategy (0.232) was greater than 0.05 (0.232>0.05). This finding suggested that the data on critical thinking skills followed a normal distribution. In addition, the significant value for the normality of critical thinking skills data in the direct learning group (0.055) was greater than 0.05. This result implied that the data on the critical thinking skills of students taught through direct instruction likewise followed a normal distribution.

The significance value of the critical thinking skills of students with high self-efficacy (0.279) was greater than 0.05, as determined by the Sapiro Wilk normality test. The critical thinking skills of students with poor self-efficacy also had a significant value (0.462) that was more than 0.05 (0.462>0.05). These results showed that the data from both groups were normally distributed.

Levene's Test of Variance Homogeneity

Levene's test was conducted using data on students' critical thinking abilities from the collaborative learning group, direct learning group, and students with high and low self-efficacy. The findings of the Levene's homogeneity test are displayed in Table 4.

Table 4. The Result of Levene's Test of Variance Homogeneity

Variable	F	Sig.	Remarks
Critical Thinking Skills	0.869	0.466	Homogeneous

Comment [H10]: Penyajian data ini kurang ilmiah, karena datanya sangat sederhana! Cukup dinarasi saja !

Based on the homogeneity of variance test, data on the students' critical thinking skills based on the classroom learning strategy and self-efficacy indicated a significance level more than 0.05 ($p > 0.05$). Therefore, the data between treatment groups had a homogeneous variance.

Hypothesis Testing

Table 5 contains the results of the hypothesis testing in this study.

Table 5. Hypothesis Testing Results

No	Hypothesis	F	Sig	Remarks
1	There is a significant difference in critical thinking skills between the collaborative learning group and the direct learning group.	87.626	0.000	Hypothesis accepted
2	There is a significant difference in critical thinking skills between students with high and low self-efficacy.	90.184	0.000	Hypothesis accepted
3	The interaction between the learning strategy and self-efficacy had an effect on students' critical thinking skills.	5.319	0.027	Hypothesis accepted

The data in the table 5 shows that the results of the first hypothesis test prove that there is a significant difference in critical thinking skills between students who are taught collaborative group investigation (CGI) and direct learning. The results of the test indicated an F-calculated of 87.626 and a significance level of 0.000. This number showed a statistically significant difference between the two groups ($p < 0.05$). Consequently, hypothesis 1 was supported, indicating that the critical thinking skills of students in the collaborative investigation group differed considerably from those of students in the direct learning group. This result is in accordance with prior research which indicates that the involvement of students in teamwork affects their learning achievement. Students with low abilities can get maximum achievements if they apply the processes of research adequately when working in groups (Zorlu & Sezek, 2020).

Students participate in collaborative group investigation (CGI) by investigating topics, exchanging perspectives, and assessing experiences to enhance their knowledge and critical thinking skills (Rosiani et al., 2020). Critical thinking enables pupils to rationally analyze knowledge and prepare for independent study (Amin et al., 2020). Students with critical thinking skills can distinguish between material that is significant, irrelevant, or unimportant (Amin et al., 2017). Individual factors, such as motivation and achievement needs, can also influence students' critical thinking skills (Tamam et al., 2021). Students' self-confidence can rise with CGI because they collaborate, assist one

Comment [H11]: Idem!

another, and build awareness. Students with high self-esteem assist students with low self-esteem.

The data in the table 5 shows that the results of the second hypothesis test prove that there are difference in critical thinking skills between students with high and low self-efficacy. The results of the test indicated an F-calculated of 90.184 and a significance level of 0.000. This value suggested a significant difference ($p < 0.05$), thus supporting the acceptance of hypothesis 2. Therefore, it was inferred that there was a considerable difference between students with high self-efficacy and students with low self-efficacy in terms of critical thinking skills. Self-confidence plays a crucial part in learning activities because it enables pupils to believe in their ability to accomplish learning objectives (Amin et al., 2016). This provides a response to the second formulation of the problem, demonstrating that self-efficacy greatly enhances students' critical thinking processes. Analysis of the data demonstrates that pupils with high self-efficacy have superior critical thinking skills compared to those with low self-efficacy. This study's findings are consistent with the findings of Nuraisyah and Izzati, who found a correlation between self-efficacy and student learning outcomes (Nuraisyah & Izzati, 2020). Students with high self-efficacy tend to demonstrate superior abilities and skills, whilst those with low self-efficacy frequently experience feelings of insecurity. Self-efficacy can boost students' comfort and confidence when participating in classroom discussions (Amin, 2022).

Self-confidence plays a crucial part in learning activities because it enables pupils to believe in their ability to accomplish learning objectives (Amin et al., 2016). This provides a response to the second formulation of the problem, demonstrating that self-efficacy greatly enhances students' critical thinking processes. Analysis of the data demonstrates that pupils with high self-efficacy have superior critical thinking skills compared to those with low self-efficacy. This study's findings are consistent with the findings of Nuraisyah and Izzati, who found a correlation between self-efficacy and student learning outcomes (Nuraisyah & Izzati, 2020). Students with high self-efficacy tend to demonstrate superior abilities and skills, whilst those with low self-efficacy frequently experience feelings of insecurity. Self-efficacy can boost students' comfort and confidence when participating in classroom discussions (Amin, 2022).

F-test was conducted to investigate the third problem formulation about the effect of the interaction between collaborative learning and self-efficacy on the critical thinking skills of students. The results of the test indicated an F-calculated value of 5.319 and a significance value of $0.027 < 0.05$. This indicates that the interplay between collaborative learning in groups and self-efficacy has an effect on students' critical thinking skills. Introducing discussion during elaboration and collaboration enables students to delve deeper into scientific concepts (Ping et al., 2020). From a constructivist perspective, educators are not responsible for imparting knowledge, but rather for facilitating it. Educators present students with practical projects and provide appropriate direction, questions, and answers to enhance student involvement and encourage further thinking. (Kim et al., 2014).

This finding contrasts a recent study by Dini Farera that found no connection between learning models and self-efficacy in mathematical problem-solving. Numerous recent studies, however, have demonstrated that self-efficacy is a trait that can influence learning outcomes. For instance, **Pesouta and John Nietfeld's** (2020) research indicates that learners who engage in cooperative learning demonstrate a high level of awareness. The study further concludes that the social setting of the classroom and self-efficacy, particularly motivation, influence the acquisition of high-level abilities. This underscores the concept that intrinsic motivation as a component of self-efficacy must be considered to generate pupils with high levels of awareness and skills (Pintrich, 2000). Improving pupils' critical thinking skills is crucial because, with critical thinking,

Comment [H12]: Edit!

they will be able to solve a variety of challenges throughout their life and use these skills in future scenarios (Mahanal et al., 2016).

Self-efficacy can be utilized to enhance collaborative group investigation (CGI) procedures and students' critical thinking skills. Self-efficacy behavior improves the effectiveness of the CGI and direct learning implementation in the classroom. This study's findings reveal that there is a substantial association between CGI strategy and self-efficacy, which has a major impact on students' critical thinking skills; the stronger the link between learning strategies and self-efficacy, the higher the positive effect on critical thinking skills. In contrast, the negligible relationship between learning strategies and self-efficacy has no effect on critical thinking skills. Shared ownership of high and low self-efficacy behaviors and learning strategies (CGI and direct learning) will alter students' critical thinking skills. Therefore, learners should consider their level of self-efficacy while managing their learning process. Through the implementation of relevant learning models, students' critical thinking skills can be enhanced (Azizah et al., 2020).

Conclusion

The results of the data analysis showed that: (1) there was a significant difference in critical thinking skills between the collaborative learning group and the direct learning group, where students taught with the collaborative group investigation strategy achieved higher than those taught with the direct learning strategy; (2) there was a significant difference in critical thinking skills between students with high and low self-efficacy, where the students with high self-efficacy demonstrated higher critical thinking skills than those with low self-efficacy; (3) the interaction between the learning strategy and self-efficacy had an effect on students' critical thinking skills.

Acknowledgement

References

- Ajjawi, R., & Boud, D. 2015. Researching Feedback Dialogue: an Interactional Analysis Approach. *Assessment & Evaluation in Higher Education*, 42(2): 252–265. <https://doi.org/DOI: 10.1080/02602938.2015.1102863>
- Amin, A. M. 2020. *Pengaruh Model Reading, Questioning, and Answering (RQA) Dipadu Argument-Driven Inquiry (ADI) pada Kemampuan Akademik Berbeda terhadap Motivasi, Keterampilan Berpikir Kritis, Keterampilan Metakognitif, Keterampilan Argumentasi, dan Penguasaan Konsep Biolo*. Disertasi Tidak Diterbitkan. Malang: Universitas Negeri Malang.
- Amin, A. M. 2022. Self-Efficacy Mahasiswa Biologi Setelah Penerapan Model WE-ARe (Warm-up, Exploring, Argumentation, Resume). *Jurnal AL-Nafis*, 2(1): 117–128.
- Amin, A. M., Corebima, A. D., Zubaidah, S., & Mahanal, S. 2017. The Critical Thinking Skills Profile of Preservice Biology Teachers in Animal Physiology The Critical Thinking Skills Profile of Preservice Biology Teachers in Animal Physiology. *Advances in Social Science, Education and Humanities Research*, 128(September): 179–183. <https://doi.org/10.2991/icet-17.2017.30>
- Amin, A. M., Corebima, A. D., Zubaidah, S., & Mahanal, S. 2020. The Correlation between Metacognitive Skills and Critical Thinking Skills at the Implementation of

Comment [H13]: Penulisan referensinya belum sesuai dengan ketentuan template jurnal JPSI.

- Four Different Learning Strategies in Animal Physiology Lectures. *European Journal of Educational Research*, 9(1): 143–163. <https://doi.org/10.12973/eu-jer.9.1.143>
- Amin, A. M., Corebima, A. D., Zubaidah, S., & Mahanal, S. 2016. Pre-Motivational Study Based ARCS (Attention, Relevance, Confidence, and Satisfaction) at Biology Education Students at Physiology Animal Lecture. *International Conference on Education 2016, November*, 116–124.
- Azizah, N., Mahanal, S., Zubaidah, S., & Setiawan, D. 2020. The Effect of RICOSRE on Students ' Critical Thinking Skills in Biology. *AIP Conference Proceedings*, 2215, 0300: 1–6. <https://doi.org/10.1063/5.0000562>
- Bostan Sarioglan, A., Sen, R., & Altas, R. 2021. What Do Secondary School Students Think about Experimental Practices in Science Lessons Taught in Distance Education? *Journal of Educational Technology and Online Learning*, 4(2): 193–214.
- Deslauriers, L., McCarty, L. S., Miller, K., Callaghan, K., & Kestin, G. 2019. Measuring Actual Learning versus Feeling of Learning in Response to being Actively engaged in the Classroom. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 116(39): 19251–19257. <https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1821936116>
- Falloon, G. 2019. Using Simulations to Teach Young Students Science Concepts: An Experiential Learning Theoretical Analysis. *Computers and Education*, 135(March): 138–159. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2019.03.001>
- Hammond, L. D., Flook, L., Harvey, C., Barron, B., & Osher, D. 2020. Implications for Educational Practice of the Science of Learning and Development. *Applied Developmental Science*, 24(2): 97–140.
- Heinimäki, O. P., Volet, S., Jones, C., Laakkonen, E., & Vauras, M. 2021. Student Participatory Role Profiles in Collaborative Science Learning: Relation of within-Group Configurations of Role Profiles and Achievement. *Learning, Culture and Social Interaction*, 30(1005339): 1–15. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lcsi.2021.100539>
- Kervinen, A., Roth, W.-M., Juuti, K., & Uitto, A. 2020. The Resurgence of Everyday Experiences in School Science Learning Activities. *Cultural Studies of Science Education*, 15: 1019–1045.
- Kim, S.H., Park, N.H., & Joo, K.H. 2014. Effects of Flipped Classroom based on Smart Learning on Self-directed and Collaborative Learning. *International Journal of Control and Automation*, 7(12): 69–80. <https://doi.org/10.14257/ijca.2014.7.12.07>
- Ku, K. Y. L., Ho, I., Hau, K.-T., & Lai, E. C. M. 2014. Integrating Direct and Inquiry-Based Instruction in the Teaching of Critical Thinking: an Intervention Study. *International Journal of the Learning Sciences*, 42(2): 251–269. <https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1007/s11251-013-9279-0>
- Liu, F., Wu, J., Huang, X., & Fong, P. S. W. 2020. Impact of Intra-Group Cooperative Incentives on the Performance Outcomes of Knowledge Sharing: Evidence from a Randomized Experiment. *Journal of Knowledge Management*, 24(2): 346–368. <https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1108/JKM-05-2019-0256>
- Magnanini, S., Trabucchi, D., Buganza, T., & Verganti, R. 2021. Collaborate as a Flock in the Organization: How Selection and Synthesis Influence Knowledge Convergence within a Complex Adaptive System. *Journal of Knowledge Management*, 26(11): 142–165. <https://doi.org/10.1108/JKM-07-2021-0533>
- Mahanal, S., Zubaidah, S., Bahri, A., & Dinnurriya, M. S. 2016. Improving Students ' Critical Thinking Skills through Remap NHT in Biology Classroom. *Asia-Pacific Forum on Science Learning and Teaching*, 17(2): 1–20.
- Marlina, R. 2020. Identifikasi Kesulitan Belajar Sains dan Upaya yang Dilakukan Guru Sekolah Menengah untuk Mengatasinya. *Jurnal Pendidikan Informatika Dan Sains*, 9(1): 13–20.
- Mende, S., Proske, A., & Narciss, S. 2021. Individual Preparation for cCollaborative

- Learning: Systematic Review and Synthesis. *Educational Psychologist*, 56(1): 29–53. <https://doi.org/10.1080/00461520.2020.1828086>
- Nuraisyah, M., & Izzati, N. 2020. Self-Efficacy pada Hasil Belajar Peserta Didik Materi Bentuk Aljabar Madrasah Tsanawiyah Tanjung Pinang. *Jurnal Pendidikan Matematika RAFA*, 6(2): 100–108.
- Päivi Häkkinen, Järvelä, S., Mäkitalo-Siegl, K., Ahonen, A., Näykki, P., & Valtonen, T. 2017. Preparing Teacher-Students for Twenty-First-Century Learning Practices (PREP 21): a Framework for Enhancing Collaborative Problem-Solving and Strategic Learning Skills. *Teachers and Teaching*, 23(1). <https://doi.org/DOI:10.1080/13540602.2016.1203772>
- Ping, I. L. L., Halim, L., & Osman, K. 2020. Explicit Teaching of Scientific Argumentation as an Approach in Developing Argumentation Skills, Science Process Skills and Biology Understanding. *Journal of Baltic Science Education*, 19(2): 276–288.
- Prabha, S. 2020. Students' Views on Difficulties in Conceptual Understanding of Science at Secondary Stage. *The Eurasia Proceedings of Educational & Social Sciences*, 16: 1–10. www.isres.org
- Raes, A., Schellens, T., De Wever, B., & Benoit, D. F. 2016. Promoting Metacognitive Regulation through Collaborative Problem Solving on the web: When Scripting does Not Work. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 58: 325–342. <https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2015.12.064>
- Rosiani, E., Parmin, P., & Taufiq, M. 2020. Cooperative Learning Model of Group Investigation Type on Students' Critical Thinking Skill and Scientific Communication Skills. *Unnes Science Education Journal*, 9(1): 48–58. <https://doi.org/DOI10.15294/USEJ.V9I1.36880>
- Sharan, S., Sharan, Y., & Tan, I. G. 2015. Meaningful Learning in the Cooperative Classroom. *Education*, 43(1): 3–13. <https://doi.org/DOI:10.1080/03004279.2015.961723>
- Sun, D., Looi, C.-K., & Wentin, X. 2017. Learning with Collaborative Inquiry: a Science Learning Environment for Secondary Students. *Technology, Pedagogy and Education*, 26(3): 241–263. <https://doi.org/DOI:10.1080/1475939X.2016.1205509>
- Tamam, B., Corebima, A. D., Zubaidah, S., & Suarsini, E. 2021. An Investigation of Rural-Urban Students' Critical Thinking in Biology Across Gender. *Pedagogika/Pedagogy*, 142(2): 200–217. <https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.15823/p.2021.142.11> Pedagogika
- Zambrano, J., Kirschner, F., Sweller, J., & Kirschner, P. A. 2019. Effects of Group Experience and Information Distribution on Collaborative Learning. *Instructional Science*, 47(5): 531–550. <https://doi.org/10.1007/s11251-019-09495-0>
- Zorlu, Y., & Sezek, F. 2020. An Investigation of the Effect of Students' Academic Achievement and Science Process Skills Application Together With Cooperative Learning Model and the Modeling Based Teaching Method in Teaching Science Courses. *International Journal of Progressive Education*, 16(4): 135–157. <https://doi.org/DOI:https://doi.org/10.29329/ijpe.2020.268.9>